RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN **08-11-2015**

COURTOFAPPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2015AP314-CR & 2015AP315-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

TYLER Q. HAYES & TANNER J. CRISP,

Defendants-Respondents.

ON APPEAL FROM A DECISION AND ORDER GRANTING A MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE ENTERED IN THE KENOSHA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE ANTHONY MILISAUSKAS, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

SARAH L. BURGUNDY Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1071646

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

ISSUE PRESENTED

Under Wisconsin law, an officer does not necessarily "seize" occupants of a parked vehicle for Fourth Amendment purposes

by approaching the vehicle and knocking on a window.¹ Here, an officer parked his squad car behind an illegally parked car containing two occupants, did so without blocking the car or activating lights or a siren, and approached the driver's side window.

Was the officer's parking his car and approaching the vehicle a "seizure"?

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State does not request oral argument or publication because this court can resolve the issue in this case by applying established legal principles to the facts.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State appeals from the circuit court's grant of Hayes' and Crisp's joint motion to suppress evidence, including drugs, drug paraphernalia, statements, and derivative evidence, which police had seized from Hayes, Crisp, and a parked vehicle in which they were sitting (13; 15; A-Ap. 189).² Based on that evidence, the State had charged Hayes and Crisp each with counts of possession with intent to deliver THC and other drugs and possession of drug paraphernalia (1; [315]1; A-Ap. 101-06).

After the State filed the criminal complaints, Crisp and Hayes each filed motions to suppress the evidence, arguing that law enforcement illegally seized them when an officer approached them without reasonable suspicion to do so while they sat in Crisp's parked car (9; [315]10; A-Ap. 107-12). They

¹ County of Grant v. Vogt, 2014 WI 76, ¶38, 356 Wis. 2d 343, 850 N.W.2d 253.

² The records in these consolidated cases are nearly identical. The State cites to the record in Case No. 2015AP314-CR unless otherwise noted by the prefix "[315]" to designate the record in Case No. 2015AP315-CR.

asked the court to suppress any evidence obtained after that illegal seizure (*id*.).

To resolve the motions, the court held a hearing, at which Deputy William Soppe of the Kenosha County Sheriff's Department and Crisp testified (18; A-Ap. 113-69). The facts below are taken from their testimony.

Deputy Soppe testified that he was patrolling Bristol Woods Park in Kenosha at around 5:45 p.m. on March 1, 2013, when he saw a Chevy with two occupants parked in a lane adjacent to a designated parking area in the park (18:3-6; A-Ap. 115-18). Soppe was driving a marked squad toward the front of the Chevy (18:21; A-Ap. 133). He passed it, turned his squad around, and parked behind the Chevy without blocking it. As Soppe stated, "All[] they had to do if they wanted to, they could have just drove right off" (18:22; A-Ap. 134). Soppe did not activate his lights (*id*.).

Deputy Soppe believed that the Chevy was illegally parked and stated that it would have been blocking traffic if there was any (18:7-9, 21; A-Ap. 119-21, 133). He also stated that the car's positioning was "unusual" given that the parking area was otherwise empty (18:9; A-Ap. 121). At the suppression hearing, the ADA entered as an exhibit a copy of a Kenosha County ordinance prohibiting parking in county parks outside of designated areas (18:7; A-Ap. 119).

After stopping behind the Chevy, Soppe left his squad and approached the driver's side of the Chevy, where either the window was open or Crisp, who was in the driver's seat, opened the window (18:11-13, 23; A-Ap. 123-25, 135). At that point, Soppe smelled a "strong" odor of burnt marijuana (18:13, 15, 33; A-Ap. 125, 127, 145). Soppe asked Crisp and Hayes, who was in the passenger seat, what they were doing and asked for identification (18:11, 14; A-Ap. 123, 126). According to Soppe, Crisp provided an identification card while Hayes just gave his name (18:23; A-Ap. 135). Soppe returned to his squad and ran the names through dispatch, where he learned that Hayes had an active warrant (18:14-15; A-Ap. 126-27).

Soppe called for backup and returned to the car (18:14; A-Ap. 126). Although the exact order of events is not clear, Soppe had Hayes exit the car and arrested him on the warrant (*id*.). He also asked Crisp to get out of the car, telling her that he smelled marijuana (18:15, 23; A-Ap. 127, 135). He asked her if there was "anything inside of the vehicle." Crisp told Soppe that she had a pipe and some marijuana in her purse (18:15, 25; A-Ap. 127, 137). Soppe or other officers searched the purse and car and found additional marijuana, pills, and paraphernalia (18:16; A-Ap. 128). At some point during the initial contact, Crisp told Soppe that she and Hayes were in the park to sell drugs to someone (18:15-16; A-Ap. 127-28).

Crisp stated that her car had been parked where it was for about 45 minutes before Soppe arrived (18:48; A-Ap. 160). She generally testified to the same series of events that Soppe did. But she testified that she could not park in the designated spaces because of snow,³ and disagreed that her car was blocking traffic (18:42-43; A-Ap. 154-55). She said that Deputy Soppe's squad came straight toward her and parked at a diagonal behind her (18:42; A-Ap. 154).

After the hearing, the circuit court issued an oral decision denying the motions (19; A-Ap. 170-74). The court found that Deputy Soppe's testimony was credible, that Crisp and Hayes were parked in a traffic lane, that Soppe did not block them in by parking behind them, and that Soppe did not activate his squad lights (19:2-3; A-Ap. 171-72). It found that Soppe had

³ Deputy Soppe stated that there was no snow and that the parking spaces were clear (18:20; A-Ap. 132). The court did not make specific findings of fact on that point, though it generally found Soppe to be credible (19:3; A-Ap. 172).

probable cause to stop Crisp and Hayes based on the observed parking violation, and that his smelling marijuana and obtaining identification from the two supported the rest of his investigation (*id*.).

Months later, Crisp and Hayes asked the court to reconsider its decision as to the legality of Soppe's initial approach of the vehicle in light of this court's unpublished decision in *State v. Chonsea King*, No. 2013AP1068-CR, slip op. (Wis. Ct. App. Dist. IV Feb. 13, 2014) (A-Ap. 190-98).⁴

On reconsideration, the circuit court reversed itself and granted the motions (22:12; A-Ap. 186). It first considered whether Deputy Soppe's approach of the car could have been supported under the community caretaker doctrine, but concluded that the facts here did not support application of the doctrine (22:10; A-Ap. 184). The court then went on to conclude that because the perceived violation was just a parking violation, not a moving violation, Soppe seized Crisp and Hayes when he parked behind the car (22:11; A-Ap. 185). The court stated that even if the car was illegally parked, Crisp and Hayes were not inconveniencing anyone (*id.*). Further, it held that the parking violation did not rise to "criminal activity" of which Soppe would have needed at least reasonable suspicion to approach the car (22:11-12; A-Ap. 185-86). Thus, in the circuit court's view, Deputy Soppe was not entitled to pull his squad up behind the Chevy and approach it without more facts to establish reasonable suspicion of criminal activity (id.). It memorialized its conclusion in a written decision and order (13; A-Ap. 189).

⁴ Hayes filed the motion to reconsider on April 21, 2014, and the court appeared to initially reject it on April 22 by writing "Decision Remains" on the motion (12). But at a status conference on April 23, the court asked the State for its position on the motion and, when the State told the court it had not reviewed the motion, set a new hearing date (21:3). At that point, Crisp's attorney indicated that Crisp was joining Hayes' motion (21:4).

The State appealed (15), and this court ordered the cases to be consolidated on appeal.

ARGUMENT

The circuit court based its decision on an erroneous interpretation of Fourth Amendment law, and hence, improperly suppressed the evidence.

The circuit court improperly granted Hayes' and Crisp's motions to suppress, because no Fourth Amendment violation occurred. First, under the circumstances, Soppe's approaching the vehicle was not a seizure of its two occupants, Crisp and Second, under the Fourth Amendment. Hayes, and alternatively, even if Soppe seized Crisp and Hayes before he smelled marijuana in the car, he had at least reasonable suspicion pursuant to *Terry* to approach the vehicle and ask observed questions based on the parking violation. Accordingly, Soppe's immediate detection of marijuana provided ample probable cause for Soppe's subsequent seizure of Crisp and Hayes and his search of the car.

An appellate court reviews a circuit court's ruling on a motion to suppress and whether a seizure triggering Fourth Amendment protections has occurred under a two-part standard of review. *County of Grant v. Vogt,* 2014 WI 76, ¶17, 356 Wis. 2d 343, 850 N.W.2d 253. It upholds the circuit court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous, but applies constitutional principles to those facts de novo. *Id.*

A. Not all citizen-police encounters are "seizures" under the Fourth Amendment.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution protect persons from unreasonable searches and seizures. U.S. Const. amend. IV; Wis. Const. art. 1, § $11.^5$

Those constitutional provisions are not implicated until a government agent "seizes" a person. *Vogt*, 356 Wis. 2d 343, ¶19 (citing *State v. Young*, 2006 WI 98, ¶23, 294 Wis. 2d 1, 717 N.W.2d 729). A seizure within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment "does not occur simply because a police officer approaches an individual and asks a few questions." *Florida v. Bostick*, 501 U.S. 429, 434 (1991); *see also Young*, 294 Wis. 2d 1, ¶18 ("[N]ot all police-citizen contacts constitute a seizure[.]").

Rather, law enforcement seizes a person within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment "[o]nly when the officer, by means of physical force or show of authority, has in some way restrained the liberty of a citizen." *United States v. Mendenhall*, 446 U.S. 544, 552 (1980) (quoting *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 19 n.16 (1968)). Examples of conduct by police that would support the conclusion that a seizure had occurred includes "the threatening presence of several officers," an officer's display of a weapon, an officer's physical touching of the citizen's person, or an officer's using language or a tone of voice indicating that compliance with the officer's request is required. *Mendenhall*, 446 U.S. at 554-55.

⁵ Because Wisconsin courts have historically interpreted article 1, section 11 protections as identical to those afforded under the Fourth Amendment, *see Vogt*, 356 Wis. 2d 343, ¶18 (citation omitted), the State does not engage in separate federal and state constitutional analyses.

In sum, the circumstances must be such that a reasonable person would have believed that she was not free to leave. *Id.* at 554. The test for determining whether a seizure has occurred is an objective one that focuses on whether a reasonable person, under all the circumstances, would have felt free to leave, not whether the specific defendant felt free to go. *Michigan v. Chesternut*, 486 U.S. 567, 573-74 (1988).

Courts have recognized two types of seizures. *Young*, 294 Wis. 2d 1, $\P20$. First, an officer may make an investigatory—or *Terry*—stop based on the officer's "reasonable suspicion 'in light of his experience that criminal activity may be afoot.'" *Vogt*, 356 Wis. 2d 343, $\P27$. Second, an officer may arrest a person he or she has probable cause to believe probably has committed or is committing a crime. *Id.*, $\P28$.

B. In *Vogt*, an officer's similar approach to make contact with occupants of a parked car under "odd" circumstances was not a seizure.

In granting the motion, the circuit court concluded that Soppe seized Crisp and Hayes when he pulled his squad behind the parked car (22:11; A-Ap. 185). But controlling case law in *Vogt* and *Young* resoundingly demonstrates that that conclusion was incorrect.

Vogt presents markedly similar facts to this case.⁶ In *Vogt*, an officer who was patrolling a small village during the early morning hours on Christmas saw a car pull into a parking lot next to a closed park and boat landing. 356 Wis. 2d 343, ¶4. The officer did not see any traffic violations but thought the driver's (i.e., Vogt's) conduct was suspicious and "odd," given that it was Christmas, the park was closed, and there were no boats at the landing. *Id.*, ¶5.

⁶ The supreme court issued *Vogt* on July 18, 2014, less than a month after the circuit court made its decision on reconsideration in this case.

The officer stopped his squad "behind Vogt's vehicle [and] a little off to the driver's side," leaving the headlights on and the engine running, but without activating the red and blue emergency lights. *Id.*, ¶6. Vogt's vehicle was still running, and the officer stated that he was not blocking Vogt's vehicle, though Vogt disagreed. *Id*.

The officer, in full uniform and with his pistol holstered, approached the vehicle, where he saw two people inside. *Id.*, ¶7. He rapped on the driver's window and motioned for Vogt to roll it down. *Id.* The officer acknowledged that had Vogt ignored his request and driven away, he "would have let him go because he 'had nothing to stop him for.'" *Id.*

Instead, Vogt rolled down the window. *Id.*, ¶8. The officer asked Vogt what he was doing, and when Vogt answered, the officer observed that Vogt's speech was slurred and that he could smell the odor of intoxicants coming from the vehicle. *Id.* From there, the officer investigated Vogt based on those observations, and ultimately arrested him for operating while intoxicated and operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration. *Id.*

The supreme court held that an officer's parking near another person's vehicle, getting out, and knocking on the window is not necessarily a sufficient display of authority to cause a reasonable person to believe that he or she was not free to go. *Id.*, ¶38. It observed that the circuit court did not clearly err in finding that Vogt had ample room to drive away, that the officer did not "command" Vogt to open the window but rather simply tried to initiate contact, and that even if the officer's knock was "loud" as Vogt described it, that was not enough under the circumstances to elevate the officer's attempted contact into a seizure. *Id.*, ¶¶42-43. *See also Young*, 294 Wis. 2d 1, ¶69 (stating that it was "reluctant to conclude" that the officer's positioning his squad next to a parked vehicle in a problem area late at night and activating a spotlight and emergency red and blue lights "necessarily involved such a show of authority that 'a reasonable person would have believed that he was not free to leave'") (quoting *Mendenhall*, 446 U.S. at 554).

In all, the officer in *Vogt* acted reasonably by trying to learn more about an unusual situation:

Ultimately, what [the officer] did in this case is what any traffic officer might have done: investigate an unusual situation. As the circuit court noted, "what the officer did seems perfectly reasonable." [The officer] was acting as a conscientious officer. He saw what he thought was suspicious behavior and decided to take a closer look. Even though Vogt's conduct may not have been sufficiently suspect to raise reasonable suspicion that a crime was afoot, it was reasonable for [the officer] to try to learn more about the situation by engaging Vogt in a consensual conversation.

Vogt, 356 Wis. 2d 343, ¶51.

C. Deputy Soppe did not seize Crisp and Hayes by approaching their vehicle; even if he did, he had reasonable suspicion to conduct a *Terry* stop.

Like the officer in *Vogt*, Deputy Soppe's curiosity was reasonably piqued by a sole car and its two occupants parked in a traffic lane in a county park. Regardless of whether he observed a parking violation, Soppe approached the car to "learn more about the situation," and he did so without any overt show of authority to cause the occupants to believe they were not free to leave. He parked behind the car without blocking it, activated no lights or sirens, and issued no directives to Crisp and Hayes before he reached the driver's side window. As Soppe noted, they could have driven off if they wished. In all, just as the officer in *Vogt* justifiably approached a stopped car in unusual circumstances without reasonable suspicion, Deputy Soppe did not implicate the Fourth Amendment with his approach of Crisp's vehicle.

Moreover, this case is not "a close case" like *Vogt* was. *See* 356 Wis. 2d 343, ¶3. The record establishes that Deputy Soppe

had at least reasonable suspicion, if not probable cause, to seize the car and its occupants temporarily to investigate the observed parking violation, whereas in *Vogt*, there was no observed traffic or parking violation or suspected crime and therefore no reasonable suspicion to stop Vogt in the first instance.

Indeed, here, the circuit court found that Crisp's car was not parked in a designated spot in the park but rather in a traffic lane (19:2-3; A-Ap. 171-72). Kenosha County ordinance 7.03(1)(d) prohibits parking "[w]ithin any county park other than in designated parking areas" (26:Exh.1). Deputy Soppe saw how the car was parked, believed it was a violation, and approached Crisp's car to investigate further. His actions were reasonable under the circumstances and did not amount to a seizure because a reasonable person in Crisp's and Hayes' position would have felt free to leave or drive away.

The remainder of the encounter, to the extent it became a seizure, was supported by probable cause. When Soppe reached the car, Soppe smelled burnt marijuana coming from the vehicle, either through the already-open window or after Crisp opened her window to talk to Soppe. Under *State v. Secrist*, 224 Wis. 2d 201, 216, 589 N.W.2d 387 (1999), the odor of controlled substances provides probable cause to arrest. That case necessarily also provides that such an odor provides reasonable suspicion to continue an investigatory stop.

Deputy Soppe had five-and-a-half years of experience with marijuana cases and had made 75 to 100 marijuana-related arrests (18:4, 33; A-Ap. 116, 145). Based on his experience, Soppe could detect the smell of marijuana and could distinguish between burnt and fresh marijuana (18:34; A-Ap. 146). Thus, in addition to the observed parking violation, Soppe's detection of the burnt marijuana smell coming from the car justified his continued investigation, which began with his checking Crisp's and Hayes' names with dispatch. That check produced an open warrant for Hayes, which then provided probable cause for Soppe's arrest of Hayes.

Once Hayes was arrested, Soppe still had probable cause to investigate Crisp regarding the marijuana odor. He asked Crisp whether she had any drugs in the car, Crisp acknowledged that she did, and the subsequent search of the car produced the evidence that Crisp and Hayes now seek to have suppressed.

In granting the motion to suppress, the circuit court found significant that the observed violation was not a moving violation, and that Crisp and Hayes were not harming or inconveniencing anyone by how they were parked (22:10-12; A-Ap. 184-86). But there is no case law requiring an officer to ignore a violation if it is minor or inconsequential.⁷ Certainly, if Crisp's car was empty and parked where it was, Deputy Soppe could have approached it and issued a ticket. The fact that Crisp and Hayes were in the car did not immunize the car and them from law enforcement contact absent law enforcement's reasonable suspicion that they were committing a crime more serious than a parking violation.

And *King*, No. 2013AP1068-CR, slip op. (A-Ap. 190-98), upon which the circuit court relied, is unpublished and therefore is not controlling precedent. In any event, it does not offer Crisp and Hayes persuasive support because it is distinguishable from this case and from *Vogt*.

⁷ Indeed, Wisconsin courts have upheld stops based on minor violations. *See, e.g., County of Jefferson v. Renz,* 231 Wis. 2d 293, 296, 603 N.W.2d 541 (1999) (motorist stopped for loud exhaust); *State v. Haynes,* 2001 WI App 266, ¶2, 248 Wis. 2d 724, 638 N.W.2d 82 (officer observed car go through red light); *State v. Betow,* 226 Wis. 2d 90, 92, 593 N.W.2d 499 (Ct. App. 1999) (officer observed motorist speeding); *County of Dane v. Campshure,* 204 Wis. 2d 27, 30, 552 N.W.2d 876 (Ct. App. 1996) (motorist stopped after failing to advance through a green light).

In *King*, this court held that an officer seized King when police, in full uniform, pulled a squad behind King's parked car, turned on the high beams, exited the squad, and told King—who had exited the car after police pulled up—to return to the car. Slip op. at 4-6 (A-Ap. 193-95). It further held that law enforcement lacked reasonable suspicion to make that seizure given that the car was otherwise legally parked, the officers had not seen anyone approach, get in, or leave the vehicle, and the officers had not seen its occupants doing anything other than turning the interior light on and off a few times. Slip op. at 8 (A-Ap. 197).

Unlike the illegally parked car here, King's car was legally parked in a lot. Other than the officers' general understanding that the lot was a drug-trafficking area, there was nothing unusual or suspicious about the situation to justify the officers' parking behind the car, turning on high beams, approaching the car, and ordering King back inside. Slip op. at 7-8 (A-Ap. 196-97). Moreover, officers seized King when they ordered him into the car without reasonable suspicion or probable cause to believe he was committing a crime, whereas here, Deputy Soppe did not seize Crisp and Hayes until he developed probable cause based on the strong odor of marijuana coming from the car (18:15, 23; A-Ap. 127, 135). *Cf. Vogt*, 356 Wis. 2d 343, ¶29 (at the point that the seizure occurred, the officer had reasonable suspicion based on Vogt's signs of intoxication).

In sum, Soppe did not seize Crisp and Hayes until he was at Crisp's window and asked for their identification. Until that point, he was justified in approaching them in the manner that he did, either to resolve what appeared to be an unusual situation or based on reasonable suspicion (if not probable cause) that the car was illegally parked. There was no Fourth Amendment violation, and the circuit court erred in granting the motions to suppress on that basis.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully asks that this court reverse the decision and order of the circuit court granting Crisp's and Hayes' joint motion for reconsideration of their motions to suppress, and to remand the matter to the circuit court for further proceedings.