RECEIVED

10-30-2015

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

Case No. 2015AP315-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

TANNER J. CRISP,

Defendant-Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM A DECISION AND ORDER GRANTING A MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE ENTERED IN KENOSHA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE ANTHONY MILISAUSKAS PRESIDING

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT TANNER J. CRISP

Jeffrey J. Guerard State Bar No. 1064335 Attorney for Defendant-Respondent Ms. Tanner Crisp

AHMAD & GUERARD, LLP 4915 S. Howell Ave. Suite 300 Milwaukee, WI 53207 414-455-7707

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether a valid *Terry* stop has occurred when a police officer parks his fully marked squad car behind a parked vehicle, gets out, orders the occupants to roll down the windows and begins to question them without any reasonable suspicion that criminal activity is afoot.

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION AND ORAL ARUGMENT

Crisp does not request publication or oral argument. This case involves the application of well settled principles of law and the parties briefing with adequately address all issues.

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND THE CASE

Respondents Tanner Crisp and Tyler Hayes were charged each with counts of possession with intent to deliver THC and possession of drug paraphernalia. (R.1:1). Crisp and Hayes filed a motion to suppress any evidence obtained because of the stop and seizure of the Crisp and Hayes.(R.10). After a motion hearing, the Court issued an oral ruling denying the motion to suppress. (R.19). The charges arose out of after Deputy William Soppe stopped the Respondent's car in Bristol Woods Park located in Kenosha County. (R.18). The following facts are taken from the parties testimony at the evidentiary hearing on the motion to suppress. *Id*.

On March 1, 2013 Kenosha County Sheriff's Deputy Soppe was patrolling Bristol Woods park as part of his duties as a Kenosha County Sheriff's deputy. *Id.* at 4. As he was patrolling the park, Deputy Soppe drove by a car that was stopped inside the park. *Id.* at 5. There is a dispute about where the car was parked. Deputy Soppe testified that the car was stopped in the middle of a lane of traffic. *Id.* at 6. Crisp testified that she was parked on the side of a parking lot because the designated parking lot was full of snow. *Id.* at 41. Crisp testified that she was not blocking traffic. *Id.* at 42.

Deputy Soppe approached the vehicle, turned his car around and pulled behind the vehicle. *Id.* at 22. Deputy Soppe then exited his vehicle and approached the vehicle from the driver's side. (R.18:22) There was a driver and a front passenger in the car. *Id*. The driver was identified as Tanner Crisp, the passenger as Tyler Hayes. *Id*. Deputy Soppe asked the occupants for identification and what they were doing in the park. *Id*. As this conversation was happening, Deputy Soppe said he smelled marijuana. *Id*.

On cross-examination, Deputy Soppe admitted he had no formal training on the smell of marijuana, on the difference between marijuana and incense. *Id.* at 28. He also testified on cross-examination that he smelled burnt, not fresh, marijuana. *Id.* at 32.

Deputy Soppe then returned to his squad car and ran the names of the occupants (R.18:13-4). Hayes had an outstanding warrant and was taken into custody. *Id*. Deputy Soppe asked Crisp to set out of the car. *Id*. He told her he was going to search the car because he smelled marijuana. *Id*. He also asked Crisp if there was anything illegal in the car and she replied that she had a marijuana pipe in a pink Victoria's Secret bag. *Id*. at 15.

Deputy Soppe then searched the vehicle and found various drug paraphernalia type items. *Id.* A field test was performed on the suspected marijuana and it tested positive for THC. *Id.*

ARGUMENT

I. The Circuit Court properly exercised its discretion when it interpreted the Fourth Amendment and suppressed the evidence.

The seizure of Crisp was unreasonable and violated the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution. All evidence obtained after the seizure should be suppressed. When a search or seizure is deemed unconstitutional the appropriate remedy is to suppress the evidence found because of the seizure and subsequent search. *See State v. Felix*, 2012 WI 36, ¶30, 339 Wis.2d 670, 690, 811 N.W.2d 775. The circuit court properly suppressed the evidence in this case.

The State makes two arguments in its brief. First, it argues that Crisp and Hayes were never "seized" under the Fourth Amendment. (App. Br. 8-10). Second, it argues that even if Crisp and Hayes were seized the officer had probable cause under *Terry v. Ohio*, to do so. (App. Br. 10-2).

A police officer's seizure of a person is covered by the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution. *State v. Pugh*, 2013 WI App. 12, ¶8, 345 Wis.2d 832, 826 N.W.2d 418 (*citing State v. Phillips*, 218 Wis.2d 180, 195, 577 N.W.2d 794, 801 (1998)). These provisions are construed congruently. *Id.*

An inquiry into whether a criminal defendant's right against unreasonable searches and seizures was violated is one of constitutional fact. *State v. Griffith*, 2000 WI 72, ¶23, 236 Wis.2d 48, 613 N.W.2d 72. On appeal, issues of constitutional fact must be reviewed within a bifurcated framework, "on one hand giving deference to the circuit court's findings of evidentiary fact, and on the other reviewing independently the circuit court's application of those facts to constitutional standards." *State v. Pallone*, 2000 WI 77, ¶27, 236 Wis. 2d 162, 613 N.W.2d 568 (*citing State v. Martwick*, 2000 WI 5, ¶¶16-18, 231 Wis. 2d 801, 604 N.W.2d 552; *State v. Richardson*, 156 Wis.2d 128, 137-38, 456 N.W.2d 830 (1990)).

A. Crisp was "seized" under the Fourth Amendment.

The Fourth Amendment applies when a police officer "seizes" a person. *State v. Young*, 2006 WI 98, ¶23, 294

Wis.2d 1, 717 N.W.2d 729. When a police officer by means of force or show of authority has restrained the liberty of a citizen a seizure has occurred. *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 19, 88 S. Ct. 1868 (1968). The temporary detention of individuals during a stop of an automobile by the police constitutes a seizure for Fourth Amendment purposes. *State v. Malone*, 2004 WI 108, ¶23, 274 Wis.2d 540, 683 N.W.2d 1.

A seizure occurs when the police, by show of force or show or authority restrains the liberty of a citizen. *United States v. Mendenhall*, 446 U.S. 544, 552, 100 S. Ct. 1870 (1980). Moreover, a person is "seized" within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment when in light of all of the circumstances a reasonable person would have believed he was not free to leave. *Id* at 554. The Wisconsin Supreme Court has adopted the test set forth in *Mendenhall* for determining whether a seizure has occurred. *County of Grant v. Vogt*, 2014 WI 76, ¶30, 356 Wis.2d 343, 850 N.W.2d 253.

The appellant relies on the Wisconsin Supreme Court's decision in *Vogt*, for its argument that Crisp and Hayes were not seized for Fourth Amendment purposes. (App. Br. 8-9). In *Vogt*, a police officer pulled behind a vehicle in a public parking lot. The officer got out of his squad car and approached the parked car. *Id* at. $\P7$. The officer then "rapped" on the window. *Id*. Vogt then opened the window. *Id*. at $\P8$. The officer could smell intoxicants in the car. *Id*. The officer then performed field sobriety tests and ultimately arrested Vogt for operating while intoxicated. *Id*.

The Court in *Vogt* held that the officer's knock on the defendant's window did not by itself "constitute a show of authority sufficient to give rise to the belief in a reasonable person that the person is not free to leave." *Id.* at 54.

The appellant argues that this case is "not even a close call" because the stop of the vehicle was for an ordinance violation. (App. Br. 10-11).

The appellant seems to ignore the fact that circuit court ruled the stop was not for an ordinance violation. In its reconsideration, the circuit court ruled that the stop went beyond an investigation of a simple parking violation when Deputy Soppe asked Crisp and Hayes to roll down the window and began questioning them. (R.22:12). At this point, it seems the circuit court ruled that the stop was then transformed into a *Terry* stop. *Id*.

When questioning began there is no doubt that a seizure had occurred for Fourth Amendment purposes. Deputy Soppe made sufficient acts of authority for a reasonable person to believe that he or she as not free to leave. It is a little unclear whether the Court ruled that Deputy Soppe ordered Crisp to roll down the window. However, on appeal when a circuit court's factual ruling is unclear an appellate court can assume that the circuit court determined that fact in a manner that supports its ultimate ruling. See State v. Martwick, 2000 WI 5, ¶31, 231 Wis.2d 801, 604 N.W.2d 552 (citing Sohns v. Jensen, 11 Wis.2d 449, 453, 105 N.W.2d 818 (1960)). While the circuit court does not explicitly mention an order to roll down the window, it does mention the window "comes down" during its reconsideration ruling. Thus, it is safe to assume the circuit court ruled that Deputy Soppe ordered the window to come down.

Additionally, Deputy Soppe was in uniform and in a fully marked police squad parked behind Crisp and Hayes. These facts demonstrate that Deputy Soppe made sufficient acts of authority to demonstrate to any reasonable person that he or she would not be free to leave.

B. Deputy Soppe did not have sufficient reasonable suspicion to conduct a *Terry* stop.

At the point when the window was rolled down and questioning had commenced, the circuit court ruled that a *Terry* stop had commenced. The next inquiry is whether Deputy Soppe had sufficient reasonable suspicion that criminal activity was afoot to justify the *Terry* stop.

Deputy Soppe had already given an order to roll down the window. When asked whether she felt free to leave during this question, Crisp testified that she felt "pushed."(R.18:44). While "pushed" may not definitely demonstrate whether Crisp felt free to leave it certainly indicates she felt she had to comply with the Deputy's commands. Additionally, Crisp testified that the Deputy told her "no matter what, he was going to search [the car]." (R.18:45). Thus, given the totality of the circumstances, there was definitely a sufficient show of authority to make a reasonable person believe that he or she was not free to leave.

Investigatory stops are governed by *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 88 S. Ct. 1868 (1968), and its progeny. In *Terry*, the United States Supreme Court recognized that "a police officer may in appropriate circumstances and in appropriate manner approach a person for purposes of investigating possibly criminal behavior even though there is no probable cause for arrest." *Terry*, 392 U.S. at 22. Consequently, "the police can stop and briefly detain a person for investigative purposes if the officer had reasonable suspicion supported by articulable facts that criminal activity 'may be afoot' even if the officer lacks probable cause." *Pugh*, 2013 WI App. 12, ¶9 (*quoting United States v. Sokolow*, 490 U.S. 1, 7, 109 S. Ct. 1581 (1989); (*quoting Terry*, 392 U.S. at 30)).

"It is not necessary, however, that the officer suspect that the unlawful activity is a *crime* in the technical sense of that word; it is enough that the officer have a 'reasonable suspicion that something unlawful might well be afoot.'" *Pugh*, 2013 WI App. 12, ¶9 (*quoting State v. Waldner*, 206 Wis.2d 51, 58-60, 556 N.W.2d 681, 685-686 (1996)).

It is necessary, however, that there be some "individualized suspicion" to justify a constitutional search or seizure. *State v. Gordon*, 2014 WI App 44, (12, 353 Wis.2d) 468, 846 N.W.2d 483 (*citing United States v. Martinez-Fuerte*, 428 U.S. 543, 560, 96 S. Ct. 3074 (1976)). The Court is to look to the totality of the circumstances when determining the reasonableness of the stop. *See State v. Malone*, 2004 WI 108, (17, 274 Wis.2d 540, 683 N.W.2d 1).

Contrary to the appellant's analysis, the unpublished case *State v. King*, 2014 WI App. 38, 353 WIs2d 305, 844 N.W.2d 666, does support the circuit court's ruling. While unpublished cases do not have precedential value, Crisp is allowed the cite *King* for persuasive value. *See Wis. Stat.* § 809.23(3)(b).

The issues in *King* are very similar to the issues in this case. In *King*, a police officer observed a car in a parking lot for five minutes. *King*, 2014 WI App. at \P 3. The officer testified that this area was known for drug dealing. *Id*. After five minutes, the officer pulled his car behind the car in the parking lot, put on his hazard lights (not red and blue emergency lights) and began to walk toward the car. *Id* at \P 4. As the officer was walking toward the car, King attempted to exit the car. *Id*. at \P 4. The officer then told King to get back into the car. *Id*.

As the officer approached the car he saw one plastic sandwich baggie with a corner missing on the ground underneath King's foot. *Id.* at ¶5. This officer said this was indicative of drug dealing. *Id.* A subsequent search of King's car revealed heroin. *Id.*

The Court of Appeals found that this *Terry* stop was not justified under the circumstances. *Id.* at ¶19. The Court held that the mere presence of King in a parking lot that was known for drug dealing did not justify a *Terry* stop. *Id.* Moreover, the Court found that there were no other individualized facts to demonstrate criminal activity was afoot. *Id.*

The appellant argues that *King* is different because the car was parked legally in King. (App. Br. 13). However, there was nothing in the *King* opinion regarding the legality of the car's parking. *King* does not discuss whether the car was legally parked. Thus, the appellant's assumption is misplaced.

The current case is very similar to *King*. Here we have two people stopped in a parked car. An officer approaches them and attempts to begin an investigation into why they are parked in the park. Deputy Soppe was in a marked squad car. (R.18:5). It was only after Deputy Soppe orders Crisp to lower the window and speak with him that he smelled the marijuana.

Before the point where Deputy Soppe smelled marijuana, there were no facts to indicate that any criminal activity was afoot. There was no testimony about any prior drug dealing in the area, Deputy Soppe could not point to any individualized factor that made him suspicious that the occupants in the car were engaging in criminal activity. Thus, the stop was not a constitutionally permissible *Terry* stop.

CONCLUSION

The seizure and search of Crisp was unreasonable and unconstitutional. This Court should affirm the ruling of the circuit court.